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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL {IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The 01d Mineral County Courthouse is a two-story rectangular unreinforced brick
building decorated with a one~story portico and a complex roof line.

The courthouse sits on a park-like setting on a residential street with other public
buildings nearby. It shares a large lawn and many mature Cottonwood trees providing
shade with the Community Center next door.

The symmetrical brick walls are painted and are articulated with a belt course and
with slightly arched brick window and door openings devoid of decoration. The many
windows are double-hung wooden frames with two over two lights. The roof line is
complex with low-pitched intersecting gables forming pediments on each facade, sev-
eral interior brick chimneys, and an original bell tower long since removed. The
rectangular bell tower, proportionally large for the rest of the building was com-
plete with iron cresting on the top. Presumably, it was too much weight for the
building and was removed shortly after it was built. The roof is sheathed in wooden
shingles and the gable ends are of brick with a boxed cornice. A projecting cornice
decorated with double brackets ties the roof to the building.

One of the one-story porticos remains on the street facade of the structure, the
side portico was removed when the two-story vault addition was added to the south
side of the building in the 1930s. Also in the 1930s, the National Emergency
Recovery Act workers replaced the original wooden portico on the east with a con-
crete version of a slightly different design. This altered portico remains today.
The present central one-bay portico is five-sided, supported by six columns, and
has a large five-sided run of stairs.

The building has a central hallway running east-west from the front door. The stair-
case with mahogany rails and balasters runs north-south at the center of the north
wall. The first floor houses the jail and several offices. On the second floor,

the courtroom occupies the southwest quarter of the floor with offices occupying

the rest. The interior of the building has been modified, but it still has pressed
metal ceilings throughout, wainscoting in the hallways, and original molding around
the interior doors and transoms.

The building is in deteriorating condition with large cracks in the exterior walls,
spalling bricks two wythes deep, and a roof open to the elements. The building has
had structural problems most of its life. Tie rods connecting the north and south
walls and buttresses on the north and south walls were added to increase the strength
of the walls in the early 20th century.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Mineral County Courthouse is signficant as it originally served as Esmeralda
County's second courthouse (1883-1907), and later saw service as the first Mineral
County Courthouse (1911-1974). It is the only structure in the State's history

which served as a courthouse for two different Nevada counties, and is one of seven
extant 19th-century courthouses in the State. Excluding a small number of residential
structures which escaped the periodic fires beseting Hawthorne during its first one
hundred years, the courthouse, from all indications, is the oldest substantial, non-
frame structure in the Mineral County seat of government.

Less than two years after the infant community of Hawthorne was founded as a station
on the newly-constructed Carson & Colorado Railroad, the citizens of the fledgling
town had mounted a campaign to acquire county seat status. On March 1, 1883, the
State Legislature approved "An Act to remove the county seat of Esmeralda County from
the town of Aurora to the town of Hawthorne," and approved the sale of bonds to raise
funds for the construction of a courthouse "in a sum not exceeding thirty thousand
dollars.” The effective date for the transfer of office was July 1.

The original building specifications for the courthouse called for a wood frame
structure, but with the opening of the Hawthorne brick yard in the spring of 1883,
it was generally agreed that the courthouse should be a brick building and the spec-
ifications were subsequently changed. The Esmeralda County Commissioners appointed
A.C. Glenn as supervising architect of the project, and George W. Babcock was award-
ed the construction contract with a bid of $29,125.00.

On August 16, ground breaking ceremonies were held and work commenced. The corner-—
stone was placed on September 8 and numerous articles were placed inside including

the building specifications and plans, various coins, photographs, name cards, and

so on.

The work was completed on December 5, 1883 at a cost of $33,967.00, but not until
after A.C. Glenn had been fired as a result of an investigation into alleged corrup-
tion involving the project. D. R. Munro was subsequently appointed supervising
architect and saw the courthouse project to its completion.

In January 1884, the Esmeralda County Grand Jury directed the District Attorney to
bring suit against Babcock for an illegal claim paid him during construction. In
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addition, as the county officers began moving into the new courthouse, the Grand
Jury filed a report which charged that the new Esmeralda County Courthouse was
one-third the specified size, the vault doors were made of 1/8 inch iron instead

of the intended 3/8 inch boiler steel, that there were no water pipes, sink, or
valves in either the kitchen or jail, and that the ceiling joints were not anchored
to the building. There were many serious problems with the structure as enumerated
in the report including the fact that the foundation was settling at an alarming
rate. The Grand Jury advised that piers be put in immediately to counteract the
settling which was done. Nonetheless, a cupola situated in the center of the
courthouse had to be removed shortly thereafter because its weight had resulted

in considerable structural damage. As a result of the scandal, two county com-
missioners—-one being the brother of A,C. Glenn, resigned from office.

The Esmeralda-Mineral County Courthouse has had other notable events associated
with its long history. The highly-publicized Preston-Smith murder trial of 1907
was heard in the district court in Hawthorne prior to the relocation of the county
seat from Hawthorne to Goldfield in May. The two delegates of the Industrial
Workers of the World (IWW), a radical labor union, were confined to the courthouse
jail following a fatal shooting affray during a bitter labor dispute in Goldfield.
Morrie Rockwood Preston, while serving a sentence for second-degree murder in the
Nevada State Prison, was nominated as the Socialist Labor Party's candidate for
the U.S. Presidency in 1908. Prestonpolled over 25,000 votes nation-wide and was
the first presidential candidate to run for office while incarcerated in prison,

In 1921, Gee Jon and Hughie Sing were convicted in the Mineral County District
Court of first-degree murder. As a result of the Tong war killing in Mina, both
men were sentenced to death. Hughie Sing received a commutation of his death
sentence shortly before the scheduled execution in February 1924. Gee Jon had
the dubious distinction of being the first person in the Nation to be legally
executed by lethal (hydrocyanic) gas.
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